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1.

Introduction

UHY is an international organisation providing accountancy, business
management and consultancy services through financial business centres
in over 70 countries throughout the world. Business partners work
together through the network to conduct trans‐national operations for
clients as well as offering specialist knowledge and experience within their
own national borders. Global specialists in various industry and market
sectors are also available for consultation.
This detailed report providing key issues and information for investors
considering business operations in Australia has been provided by the
office of UHY representatives:
UHY Haines Norton (Perth office)
PO Box 1707,
Osborne Park DC,
WA, 6916
Australia
Tel:
+61 8 9444 3400
Email: rswarbreck@uhyhn.com.au
Web: www.uhyhainesnorton.com.au
You are welcome to contact Richard Swarbreck for any inquiries you may
have.
Information in the following pages has been updated so that they are
effective at the date shown, but inevitably they are both general and
subject to change and should be used for guidance only. For specific
matters, investors are strongly advised to obtain further information and
take professional advice before making any decisions. This publication is
current at January 2009.
We look forward to helping you do business in Australia.
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UHY HAINES NORTON
UHY Haines Norton is a national association of chartered accountants
established in all major cities in Australia and is the Australian member of
Urbach Hacker Young (UHY) International. Partners and staff in UHY
Haines Norton have been advising Australian and overseas investors for
many decades on all aspects of setting up and running businesses.
If you need further advice on any issues included in this publication please
contact one of the partners listed below.
Perth

Richard Swarbreck

61 8 9444 3400

Adelaide

Allen Bolaffi

61 8 8110 0999

Brisbane

Rowan Wallace

61 7 3210 5500

Melbourne

Harold Lourie

61 3 9629 4700

Sydney

Stephen Guthrie

Canberra

Alan Saidman

61 2 9256 6600

Michael Sinclair

61 2 6230 5999

Further information about UHY Haines Norton is included in Chapter 9 or
can be found on our website at www.uhyhn.com.au

UHY Haines Norton is a member of UHY, an international association of
independent accounting and consultancy firms, whose organizing body is Urbach
Hacker Young International Limited, a UK company. Each member of UHY is a
separate and independent firm. Services described herein are provided by UHY
Haines Norton and not by Urbach Hacker Young International Limited or any
other member of UHY. Neither Urbach Hacker Young International Limited nor
any member of UHY has any liability for services provided by other members.
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2.

Business environment

Australia is recognised as one of the worldʹs more attractive places in
which to do business.
It is a relatively young country with a prosperous and stable economic and
political climate. This, together with favourable market conditions, a
highly skilled, diverse and well‐educated workforce and vast natural
resources, combine to make Australia an exciting prospect for foreign
investors and business migrants who see it as a land of opportunity.

ABOUT AUSTRALIA
Australia is an independent self‐governing country, located in the Asia
Pacific region on the edge of the Pacific Rim ‐ the worldʹs fastest growing
region.
It covers 7.7 million square kilometres in area and consists of six States and
two Territories:
• New South Wales
• Queensland
• South Australia
• Victoria
• Western Australia
• Tasmania
• Northern Territory
• ACT or Australian Capital Territory.
The capital city, Canberra, is located in the ACT.
Because of its size, Australia is divided into three time zones with the east
coast being two hours ahead of the West (three during summer with
daylight saving).
The eastern States, namely Queensland, New South Wales, Victoria and
Tasmania are 10 hours ahead of Greenwich Mean Time (GMT). South
Australia and the Northern Territory are ahead by 9 ½ hours and Western
Australia ahead by 8 hours.
Population
Australia has a population of 21.4 million. Approximately 90% of
Australians live near the coast, centred around the main cities.
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Sydney is the largest city with a population of about 4.2 million,
Melbourne has approximately 3.6 million, Brisbane 1.8 million, Perth 1.5
million, Adelaide 1.1 million, Hobart 200,000 and Darwin 110,000.
Australia has become a truly multi‐cultural society with more than a fifth
of the population born overseas. Since the mid‐20th century migrants have
arrived from eastern, central and southern Europe, the Middle East and
increasingly from the Asia Pacific region. While the population is
principally of British and Irish descent, migrants come from more than 160
different countries. Indigenous people make up approximately 2.3% of the
population.
Language
The official language is English. However, as a result of its multi‐cultural
population, there are also a number of newspapers, radio stations and
television programs catering for the various ethnic communities.
Standard of living
Australiaʹs standard of living is one of the best in the world. This is due to
its great physical and climatic environment combined with attractive
working conditions, excellent health and education facilities, high quality,
reasonably priced housing and an affordable cost of living.
Employment
In June 2007 the labour force was 10.71 million, with a participation rate of
65.3% and an unemployment rate of 4.2%.
GPD
The GDP was AUD 999.8 billion in 2007.
CPI
The inflation rate was 4.5% for the year to June 2008. The Reserve Bank of
Australia aims to keep inflation between 2 and 3%.
Interest rates
The cash rate in July 2007 was 7.25%.
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Currency
The unit of currency is the Australian Dollar, quoted as the AUD. There
are 100 cents to the dollar.

SYSTEM OF GOVERNMENT
Australia was initially settled by the British in the late 1700s and was
established as a Commonwealth in 1901 at the time of Federation.
Australia is governed by a constitutional monarchy with the Queen as
head of state and represented in Australia by the Governor‐General.
The head of Government, the Prime Minister, is the leader of the party, or
coalition of parties, holding the majority seats in the Federal Parliament.
The form of government is basically modelled on the Westminster system,
with some influences from the American congressional system.
Three tiers of Government
Federal
The Federal Government, based in Canberra, governs Australia at a
national level, controlling matters such as the treasury, defence, foreign
policy and trade, customs and excise, communication, banking and
insurance.
State and Territories
The State and Territories are all self‐governing, although they share
mutual responsibility with the Federal Government. They have their own
Westminster based forms of government and each pass their own
legislation dealing with the concerns which affect most Australians on a
day‐to‐day level, such as trade, health, education, law enforcement,
agriculture, mineral resources and industry.
In practice this means that legislation relevant to doing business in
Australia can vary in detail and complexity across the country.
Local
Local Governments have limited powers and govern planning, local
environment and other ʹlocalʹ issues.
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The Legal System
Australia has a common law legal system similar to the English system.
There are two sources of law:
• Legislation enacted by the Federal and State Governments
• Common law comprising judicial decisions.
Parliament may pass statutes and make regulations under statutes to deal
with specific issues.
Courts are operated at both Federal and State levels, including a
comprehensive appeals system. Judges are appointed by the Federal and
State Governments and once appointed serve until retirement age unless
removed for misconduct. Each State has its own judicial system and court
hierarchy headed by a Supreme Court.
The legal profession is closely modelled on the English legal profession
with, in most States, a distinction between barristers, who mainly appear
in court, and solicitors who maintain offices to which the public may go for
advice.

MARKET CONDITIONS IN AUSTRALIA
The Economy
Australia has a prosperous western style economy. It follows the free
enterprise system with an orderly marketing of products and is dependent
on international trade.
Australia currently has one of the worldʹs fastest economic growth rates
amongst the advanced economies. The UN Economic and Social
Commission for Asia and the Pacific, ESCAP expects the Australian
economy to grow by 3.2% in 2008.
The strength of the Australian economy is in part due to policy reform
such as financial deregulation, recent major changes to the taxation system
and improved labour and industrial relations. It has also been helped by
low interest rates, a strong housing market and a competitive Australian
dollar as well as low unemployment and a stable rate of inflation.
Additionally the Australian economy has not been as affected by recent
stock market fluctuations as have other major countries.

© Copyright 2009 Urbach Hacker Young International Ltd

‐7‐

Industry Base
Australia has a diversified industry base. With its vast array of natural
resources, Australia has traditionally been known for its production of raw
materials from the mining and agricultural sectors, as well as its
manufacturing industries such as mining, industrial and transportation
equipment, food processing, chemicals and steel.
In recent decades there has been a marked shift to a broader range of
competitive industries. Australia has seen a rapid expansion in its high
technology, IT manufacturing sector, including scientific and medical
equipment, biotechnology, telecommunications and software. However
the greatest growth has been in the services sector, and in particular in the
business and finance, communication, property, health, education and
tourism services.
Trade
Australia is a strong supporter of reductions to trade barriers as well as the
concept of open and multilateral trading systems. The Australian
Government actively supports the General Agreement on Tariffs and
Trade (GATT).
Australia is ideally situated to take advantage of the trading opportunities
in the Asia Pacific region. It has close cultural, commercial and political
ties within the region and this enhances trading and business partnerships.
It is the regional economic leader and 50% of global trade is now focused
in this part of the world.
Traditionally Australia exported primary industry commodities, namely
beef, wool, live sheep, wheat and minerals such as iron ore, coal, gold,
nickel, bauxite and zinc. Over the last decade and a half there has also been
a pronounced growth in value‐added and manufactured products being
exported. These include cars, computers, electrical goods and medical
technology.
Major imports include consumption and manufactured goods such as cars,
computers, fuels, machinery and equipment, transport and machinery
parts, and telecommunications equipment.
Main Trading Partners and Export Destinations
Traditionally Australiaʹs trading partners have been the United Kingdom
and Western Europe. However, with the formation of the European Union,

© Copyright 2009 Urbach Hacker Young International Ltd

‐8‐

the volume of trade with these regions has declined. Australiaʹs main
trading partners are currently member countries of the Asia‐Pacific
Economic Cooperation forum (APEC), which Australia helped launch in
1989. Member countries include Brunei, Canada, Chile, the Peopleʹs
Republic of China, Hong Kong, Indonesia, Japan, Korea, Malaysia, Mexico,
New Zealand, Papua New Guinea, The Philippines, Singapore, Taiwan,
Thailand and the United States.
In the last decade Australiaʹs trade with Asia has more than doubled and
manufacturing exports have tripled. The Asian economic down turn in
1997/98 did disrupt the growth of trade to some extent although it has not
had a significant impact on Australiaʹs economic performance. Currently
over 60% of all Australian exports are to APEC member countries.

BANKING AND FINANCE SECTOR
The central bank in Australia is the Reserve Bank of Australia. The Reserve
Bank is responsible for setting Australiaʹs official interest rate and for
maintaining a stable and efficient monetary policy and framework. It is
responsible for foreign exchange control, maintaining a general oversight
of dealers in the foreign exchange market and setting conditions and
prudential standards.
Until the mid 1980s, the Reserve Bank exercised greater powers over the
activities of banks, limiting the range of financial intermediaries and
services on offer. Recent deregulation of the financial markets has removed
barriers between classes of institutions and enabled integration into world
capital markets. This has been accompanied by the virtual abolition of
exchange controls and the floating of the Australian dollar.
The four major Australian trading banks are:
•
•
•
•

National Australia Bank (NAB)
Westpac Banking Corporation (Westpac)
The Commonwealth Bank of Australia (CBA)
Australia & New Zealand Banking Corporation (ANZ Bank)

Collectively these banks have a majority share of banking business in
Australia. Smaller regional banks, State Government trading banks, and
other financial intermediaries share the remaining business.
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The main regional trading banks include:
• Bank West
• Bank of South Australia
• Bank of Queensland
• Bank of Victoria
• St George Bank.
In addition to the trading banks, there is a comprehensive range of other
sources of finance. These include merchant or investment banks, finance
companies, building societies, credit operatives or unions, development
banks and venture capital companies.
ASX
The Australian Stock Exchange Limited (ASX) was formed in 1987 when
six independent stock exchanges amalgamated. The ASX has five regional
branches, situated in Sydney, Melbourne, Brisbane, Adelaide and Perth. It
was recently floated and listed on itself ‐ a world first. It is Australiaʹs
primary national stock exchange for equities, derivatives and fixed interest
securities. All trading of shares between ASX members are conducted by
electronic trading using comprehensive, high quality, information
technology systems.
Exchange Control
Almost all restrictions on foreign currency have been removed since the
floating of the Australian dollar.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT CONTROLS
APRA
Banking regulation is split between the Australian Securities and
Investment Commission (ASIC) and the Australian Prudential Regulation
Authority (APRA). All financial institutions are regulated by APRA and
have to report to it on a periodic basis. Financial intermediaries on the
other hand have to obtain licences under the Corporations Act 2001 or
other Commonwealth or State legislation. Most investment or merchant
banks are registered under the Financial Corporations Act (1974).
APRA supervises the functions of the Reserve Bank as well as being
responsible for prudential supervision of the other deposit taking
institutions. This includes banks, building societies, credit unions and
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friendly societies, as well as life and general insurance companies and
superannuation funds.
ASIC
The Australian Securities and Investment Commission (ASIC) is an
independent Government body responsible for enforcing company and
financial laws to ensure market integrity and consumer protection. It
administers the Corporations Act 2001 and its function is to ensure fair
play in the corporate and financial services industry, protecting investors
and consumers and preventing corporate crime.
ACCC
The Australian Competition and Consumer Council (ACCC) is an
independent statutory authority dealing with competition matters and
responsible for enforcing the Trade Practices Act 1974 and the Prices
Surveillances Act 1983 and associated legislation. Consumer protection
measures are aimed at prohibiting unfair trade practices such as
misleading or deceptive conduct, false representation and various
advertising practices. These measures also cover conditions and
warranties, product safety standards and information.

Trade Practices Act 1974
This act prohibits and restricts business practices which may lessen
competition in trade and commerce and applies to virtually all businesses
in Australia. The Act covers anti‐competitive and unfair market practices,
mergers or acquisitions of companies, product safety/liability and third
party access to facilities of national significance.

© Copyright 2009 Urbach Hacker Young International Ltd

‐11‐

3.

Foreign investment

Australia actively welcomes and encourages foreign investment and has a
strong commitment to business development. It is widely recognised that
foreign investment fosters higher levels of economic activity and
employment, brings access to new technology and skills and introduces
new markets for trade and commerce.
To encourage foreign investment Australia has introduced a number of
schemes designed to facilitate foreign investment, including trade
incentives, Government grants and tax concessions.
Foreign investors are generally held to be:
• A natural person not ordinarily resident in Australia
• Any corporation, business or trust in which there is substantial
foreign interest, regardless of whether such an entity is foreign
controlled.
Reasons for investing in Australia
There are a large number of sound reasons for investing in Australia:
• Long term political stability
• Sound economic management and growth
• Low rates of inflation
• Favourable location within the Asia Pacific region
• Highly skilled, diverse workforce
• Technologically advanced with a rapid uptake of communications
technology
• Innovative culture with a high proportion of R&D expenditure
• Open and efficient regulatory systems.
Foreign Investor options
In order to transact business in Australia a foreign investor can:
• Register as a foreign company
• Enter into a joint venture
• Acquire an Australian company
• Establish a new business
• Set up a branch operation.
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Registering as a foreign company
A foreign company or similar entity is able to carry on a business on its
own account (i.e. as a branch or subsidiary) provided it has registered in
Australia. Registering generally involves:
• Appointing and authorising at least one local agent to act on its
behalf
• Maintaining a registered office in Australia
• Lodging specific company documents and financial statements
with ASIC
• Identifying the business as a foreign company in written contracts
and correspondence.
Joint ventures
Foreign investors may also enter into a joint venture with an Australian
business or organisation. This has become a popular option in recent years
particularly if the investment is in natural resources. As there is no
legislation specifically regulating joint venture agreements, the investor,
therefore, does not have to go through the process of:
• Incorporating with another Australian subsidiary
• Registering as a foreign corporation.
The investor should however create a joint venture agreement with the
other party. The participants are generally taxed on an individual basis.
Acquiring an Australian company or business
Alternatively investors can acquire the shares in or assets of an existing
Australian company. This has to be undertaken in accordance with both
takeover legislation and the Corporations Act 2001 as well as be in
accordance with Australiaʹs foreign investment policy.
Establishing a new business
Details about establishing a new business in Australia are provided
Chapter 4.
Setting up a branch operation
An overseas company can operate through a branch office in Australia,
referred to for tax purposes as a “Permanent Establishment”. The overseas
company registers with ASIC and the ATO and for tax purposes is treated
like a company. The main advantage is the possible elimination of double
taxation when compared to an Australian subsidiary company of a foreign
parent.
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Legislation affecting foreign investment:
While it recognises the importance of foreign investments, Australia is also
keenly aware of the importance of looking after its own affairs. There is a
natural apprehension about Australian assets being owned and controlled
by foreign concerns, particularly in sensitive sectors such as the media and
developed residential real estate.
Australiaʹs foreign investment policy is accordingly designed to:
• Encourage foreign investment
• Ensure that foreign investment enhances Australiaʹs economic
development
• Ensure that foreign investment is consistent with Australiaʹs needs.
These policies are administered by the Foreign Investment Review Board
(FIRB) and contained within:
• The Foreign Acquisitions and Takeovers Act 1975
• Ministerial Policy Statements
• Specific State or Territory based legislation.
The FIRB generally examines all foreign investment proposals involving:
• Acquisitions of substantial interests in existing Australian
businesses or concerns with total assets valued at over $50 million
• The establishment of a new business involving a total investment of
more than $10 million
• Portfolio investments in the media of 5% or more as well as all non‐
portfolio investments
• Takeovers of offshore companies whose Australian subsidiaries or
assets are valued at $50 million or more, or account for more than
50% of the companyʹs global assets
• Acquisitions of interests in urban real estate regardless of value
• Direct investments by foreign governments or their agencies.
The FIRB, for example, has to be approached for approval if a foreign
investor wishes to invest in oil and gas or resource processing,
manufacturing, non‐banking financial institutions, insurance, share
broking, the aviation industry, as well as agriculture, forestry or fishing, or
developing rural land or businesses, or commercial real estate.
In most industry sectors smaller proposals are exempt from investigation
by the FIRB and larger proposals are approved unless they are held to be
contrary to the national interest.
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Government assistance and incentives for foreign investment
Invest Australia
The Australian Government has established Invest Australia, a national
investment agency, to encourage and assist investors wishing to establish
their operations in Australia.
Invest Australia:
• Provides information on how to establish a business in Australia
• Can arrange site visits and help the investor find a joint venture
partner
• Offers expert advice from a range of industry specialists and helps
identify potential investments
• Provides information on the availability and cost of labour, R&D,
transport and establishment costs, as well as taxation and
incentives
• Provides contacts with government agencies and advice on
investment regulations
• Facilitates major projects through targeted programs.
Additionally the Government provides incentives including grants, tax
relief and the provision of infrastructure services to further encourage
foreign investment. These incentives are both Federal and State based and
are aimed at promoting and encouraging economic and innovative
development.
All investment proposals for these Government incentives are individually
assessed and have to meet set eligibility criteria including a requirement
that the investment would:
• Be unlikely to occur in Australia without the incentive
• Be viable without subsidy
• Provide significant economic benefits to Australia.
Most foreign investment
requirements are approved.

proposals

which

meet

these

incentive

Austrade
The Australian Trade Commission (Austrade) encourages foreign
investment by helping to provide practical advice, market intelligence and
ongoing support in the development of export markets. This includes
putting overseas investors in contact with Australian businesses as well as
providing advice and guidance for joint venture opportunities.
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4.

Setting up a Business

There are a number of legal structures available for setting up a business in
Australia. These are essentially the same as those used in the United
Kingdom, the United States, New Zealand and other English speaking
countries. The most common structures include:
• Company ‐ private or public
• Partnership
• Trusts
• Sole trader.
Companies
Foreign investors may find a company the easiest structure to use,
particularly if opening a branch or subsidiary of their existing overseas
business. The most common form of company in Australia is either a
private (proprietary) company or a public company limited by shares.
A private company uses Proprietary (Pty) in its name, and its shares
cannot be offered to the general public as a means of raising revenue for
the company.
A limited company includes Limited (Ltd) in its name and can either be
limited by guarantee, mostly used by charities and trade associations, or
more commonly limited by shares where the shareholdersʹ liability is
limited to paying the issued share price.
All companies are regulated by the Corporations Act 2001.
Private Company
Smaller businesses will generally use a private company structure as it is
easier and less expensive to manage and administer.
Private companies:
• Must have at least one director
• At least one director must ordinarily reside in Australia
• Does not have to have a secretary
• If the company has one or more secretaries, at least one must
reside in Australia
• Must have at least one but not more than 50 shareholders
• May offer shares to existing shareholders or employees
• Are prohibited from offering shares, debentures or other forms of
security to the public
• Usually restrict the right of shareholders to transfer shares.
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Public Company
These are listed or unlisted public companies. A listed public company
trades through the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX).
Public companies:
• Must have at least three directors
• At least two directors must ordinarily reside in Australia
• At least one secretary must ordinarily reside in Australia
• Must have at least one shareholder
• May also have an unlimited number of shareholders
• May offer shares to the public
• Must comply with the Corporations Act before offering shares
• Place no restriction on the transfer of shares.
When setting up a company an investor can either purchase a “shelf”
company, or incorporate a new company to suit more specific
requirements. Shelf companies have already been established and
registered, but not traded, and can be bought through a shelf company
office or through lawyers or accountants.
Incorporating a company requires registering with ASIC, the Australian
Securities and Investment Commission, and lodging the company name.
The company name has to include Pty and Ltd, if relevant, to show the
companyʹs legal status. Once registered, companies are provided with an
Australian Company Number (ACN) which must be shown on the
Company Seal, on letterheads and most other business documents.
Listing with the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX)
Companies wishing to list on the Australian stock exchange have to
conform to the requirements of both the ASX and the Corporations Act.
The ASX requires the company to provide the following details:
• The companyʹs capital structure
• Number of members
• Paid up value of shares it plans to issue.
The Corporations Act requires the company to issue a detailed prospectus
before the public offering is made.
Partnerships
In Australia partnerships can be established by two or more, and up to a
maximum of 20, people. Partnerships are a popular structure with many
small and medium sized businesses as they have low set up costs, have

© Copyright 2009 Urbach Hacker Young International Ltd

‐17‐

minimal formal set up requirements and are reasonably flexible for
taxation purposes.
In Australia partnerships are covered by the Partnership Act and contract
law. In most States the partners share profits and costs equally and are
held jointly and severally liable for debts and obligations. Some States and
Territories have state based legislation allowing limited partnerships
which regulate the liability of the partners.
The partnership is required to lodge a partnership tax return but is not
taxed as a separate entity. Each partner lodges an individual tax return,
paying tax on their share of profit.
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Trusts
In no other country are trusts as commonly used in small or medium sized
businesses as in Australia. They have become popular because of their
flexibility and ability to minimise income and capital gains tax. Probably
more new small businesses operate through a trust structure than through
partnerships and companies.
Trusts are usually set up using a company as a trustee, whereby the
companyʹs shares are held by the individual who is also the director. This
has the advantage of providing limited liability protection.
Some trusts, commonly known as family trusts, are normally of a
discretionary nature. This allows them to distribute income within the
family, or to related entities, in the most tax efficient manner.
Sole Trader
This is the simplest and most cost efficient method of legally establishing a
business. The owner is the sole proprietor and so retains complete control.
The business is subject to less regulation and all profits go to the owner.
Sole traders can trade under their own name or choose to register a
business name. A sole trader is treated as an individual for tax purposes.
This structure does not have the limited liability protection provided by a
company or a company/trust structure.

REGULATION OF BUSINESSES
Corporations Law
Company law in Australia is governed by the Corporations Law of the
individual States and Territories and subject to the Corporations Act 2001,
which is administered by ASIC. This regulates the rules, procedures, and
accounting and reporting requirement for companies.
Registration of business names
All business names must be registered unless the business operates under
the full names, or initials, of the business owner or owners. Companies
that carry out their business under a name other than their company name
must also register their business name.
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Business names are registered with their appropriate State or Territory
authority and with ASIC. This allows the entity to trade under that name
but does not provide legal status.
To register the entity must provide:
• The business name
• The address where it will operate
• The names and addresses of the business owners
• When it will start trading.
ABN
Companies, trusts, partnerships or sole traders carrying on a business are
required to apply to the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) for an
Australian Business Number (ABN). The Government, and particularly the
ATO, uses this number to identify the different business taxpayers.
Registering for tax
All businesses are required to have a Tax File Number (TFN) and to lodge
a tax return with the ATO.
GST
The GST is a broad‐based tax of 10% on most supplies of goods and
services consumed in Australia. A business must register for GST if it is an
enterprise with an annual turnover of $75,000 or more.
Business licences and permits
Most businesses require some form of licence or permit in order to operate
legally. These depend on the nature of the business and are obtained from
Commonwealth, State, Territory, or Local Government authorities.
Insurance
All employers are required to have Workerʹs Compensation Insurance to
cover their employees for personal injury occurring at or while travelling
to or from work. All business vehicles must be covered by compulsory
third party motor insurance which provides cover against legal liability
from death or injury due to the motor vehicle use.
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5.

Labour

There have been major changes to the working conditions in Australia in
recent years. This is due in the main to the increasingly open and
competitive economy that has developed since the early 1980s. At the same
time there has been considerable deregulation of the labour market
bringing with it more flexible work conditions and wage determination.

EMPLOYMENT STATISTICS
In June 2008 approximately 10.7 million people were in the Australian
labour force.
The average employee works a 38‐hour week and/or an eight‐hour day,
and is entitled to 4 weeks paid annual leave.
The average weekly earnings for adults working full‐time in February 2008
was $1123.
The workforce is highly educated with over 42% holding university or
trade qualifications.
Service industries employ the largest proportion of people. This is
followed by the manufacturing and construction industries and then
primary type industries such as agriculture, mining, forestry, fishing etc.
The unemployment rate was 4.2% at June 2008.
The general retirement age for Australian employees is 65 for men and
between 60 and 65 for women, which is when they become eligible for the
Government pension. Some large companies allow retirement from the age
of 55. In some States legislation prevents compulsory age‐related
retirement.

INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS
Trade unions
Australia has had a tradition of strong trade unions with the Labor
Government a powerful supporter of these unions when in power. In
recent decades, however, Government policies to improve international
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competitiveness have encouraged employers to seek greater labour market
flexibility. This has led to increased changes in legislation concerning
workplace health and safety, industrial relations and training, working
conditions and rates of pay.
Approximately 19% of the Australian workforce belong to a trade union.
These unions are usually based on industry or occupation and the greatest
rate of union membership is within the communications industry. The
largest union organisation, the Australian Council of Trade Unions
(ACTU), has approximately 2 million members.
Union membership is supposed to be non‐compulsory, however ʺclosed
shopʺ arrangements in certain industries make membership almost
compulsory.
Award compliance
In Australia some form of industrial award, workplace agreement or
contract of employment covers most workers. Generally these awards or
regulations are designed to ensure equitable and fair treatment of all
employees whilst still encouraging a competitive and flexible business
environment. Employers are obligated to comply with the awards and
legislative provisions that relate to their employees.
Provisions usually relate to:
• Minimum rates of pay
• Working hours
• Overtime rates
• Sick leave
• Annual leave
• Termination of employment entitlements.
They are primarily regulated by the Australian Industrial Relations
Commission (IRC) which was formed in accordance with the Workplace
Relations Act 1996.
A large number of employees work under terms and conditions privately
negotiated with their employer. These terms and conditions are governed
by a number of Federal and State legislative provisions regarding
employment.
These legislative provisions include:
• Annual leave
• Long service leave
• Minimum rates of pay
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•
•
•
•
•

Termination of employment
Workers compensation
Equal opportunity employment
Sexual harassment
Occupational health and safety.

Australian Workplace Agreements
An Australian Workplace Agreement (AWA) is an individual written
agreement on terms and conditions of employment between an employer
and employee, under the Workplace Relations Act 1996. An AWA can
override employment conditions in state or territory laws except for
occupational health and safety, workers’ compensation or training
arrangements. An AWA must meet the Australian Fair Pay and
Conditions Standard. Agreements must include a dispute resolution
procedure, and may not include prohibited content. Agreements are for a
maximum of five years; approved, promoted and registered by the
Workplace Authority; operate to the exclusion of any award; and prohibit
industrial action regarding details in the agreement for the life of the
agreement.
Work Choices
The Liberal government introduced a controversial legislation known as
Work Choices in March 2006. These changes have effectively reduced the
bargaining power of unions and exempted companies that employ less
than 101 employees from unfair dismissal laws. It has enabled minimum
wages and working conditions under Australian Workplace Agreements
to be placed under the control of the Federal rather than State
Government.
While in opposition, the current labour government made several
indications that these changes would be abolished when they were elected
to power.
More information about Work Choices can be found at
https://www.workplaceauthority.gov.au/
In September 2007 the Australian Workforce was represented by the
following industrial agreements:
Australian Workplace Agreements 37%
Employee Collective Agreements 16%
Union Collective Agreements 47%
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EMPLOYER OBLIGATIONS
Workers compensation
All employers have to take out Workers Compensation insurance to cover
their employees. This covers employees injured in the course of their
employment or while travelling to or from their place of employment.
Occupational health and safety
All businesses have to comply with legislation set in their State or Territory
requiring employers to provide safe work places together with safe work
practices, such as safe handling of hazardous substances and dangerous
goods.
Tax compliance
Taxation legislation requires the employer to withhold an appropriate
amount of tax from an employeeʹs income and to submit this to the
Australian Taxation Office.
Superannuation (pension contributions)
Superannuation is a specially designed long‐term investment for
retirement savings. Employers are obliged to pay a minimum
superannuation amount for each employee into a recognised
superannuation fund. Currently this is set at 9% of their wages or salary.
In many circumstances employees have the right to nominate their
preferred fund.
Unfair dismissal, redundancy and social security
It is illegal for an employer to dismiss an employee in circumstances which
could be held to be unjust, harsh or unreasonable. Specific procedures
must be followed when dismissing an employee, and employers who fail
to comply may have to reinstate the employee.
Employees who are made redundant when their jobs cease are usually
entitled to additional severance pay. This is often in the form of a lump
sum payment and the amount is based on the length of employment.
The Government provides social security benefits or pensions to
unemployed, underprivileged, sick and elderly Australians and for
dependent children and students under certain circumstances.
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Employee implications when buying or selling a business
There is no legislation in Australia stipulating that on the sale of a business
all its employees will automatically transfer to the buyer.
In some circumstances, the business purchaser may be bound by the terms
and conditions of employment established in accordance with the
purchase agreement.

WORK PERMITS
Skilled foreign workers are allowed to be employed in Australia once a
number of conditions have been met. These include the employer
demonstrating that the occupationʹs requirements cannot be fulfilled by an
Australian resident and that comprehensive measures have been taken to
attempt to fill the position locally.
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6.

Taxation

In Australia the Tax Act is extremely complex and is constantly changing.
It is, therefore, only possible to provide a broad outline here.

TAX AUTHORITIES AND RESPONSIBILITY
Australiaʹs taxation is spread between the three levels of Government, the
Commonwealth, or Federal Government, the individual State or
Territories and at the Local Government level.
Federal Government Taxes
The main direct tax levied by the Federal Government is income tax.
Income tax can include capital gains tax and is applied to companies,
trusts and individuals. The Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is Australiaʹs
federal taxation authority.
Indirect taxes include GST, customs and excise duties and fringe benefits
tax. Excise is imposed on commodities such as alcohol, tobacco and
petroleum. Fringe benefit taxes are levied on non‐monetary benefits
provided to employees.
State Taxes
Each State or Territory imposes a large number of taxes and is responsible
for determining their own tax legislation, regulations and rates. There can
be distinct differences between these rates of tax. The primary taxes they
impose include payroll tax, stamp duty and land taxes.
Local Government Taxes
Local Governments also impose taxes, principally rates upon landowners.
These make up less than 5% of the tax levied on the private sector.
Liability for income tax
The general rule is that Australian tax residents must pay income tax on all
their income and capital gains from sources anywhere in the world.
From 1st July 2006, tax residents on provisional visas are not taxed on most
foreign income and capital gains.
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Non‐residents are taxed on all income and capital gains from Australian
sources. However this is modified where applicable by Australiaʹs double
tax treaties.
Legislation governing income tax is jointly contained in the Income Tax
Assessment Act 1936 and the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 and is
administered by the Commissioner of Taxation who is responsible for the
operation of the ATO. The system operates by self‐assessment, with
random ATO audits to verify assessments.
Australiaʹs income tax and fiscal year ends on the 30th of June.
Generally businesses, corporations, trusts, partnerships and individuals
are obliged to lodge an income tax return on an annual basis if their total
taxable income exceeds the limit set by the Commissioner.
Taxable income
Taxable income is the amount remaining after making all allowable
deductions from assessable income.
PERSONAL TAXES
The rates of tax for resident individuals for the 2008/9, 2009/10 and 2010/11
financial years are set out below in Australian dollars (the rates do not
include the Medicare Levy):
Threshold 1 July 2008 to 30
June 2009

Tax
Rate %

Threshold 1 July 2009 to 30
June 2010

Tax
Rate
%

$0 ‐ $6,000

0

$0 ‐ $6,000

0

$6,001 ‐ $34,000

15

$6,001 ‐ $35,000

15

$34,001 ‐ $80,000

30

$35,001 ‐ $80,000

30

$80,001 ‐ $180,000

40

$80,001 ‐ $180,000

38

$180,001 +

45

$180,001 +

45
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Non‐resident individuals will pay tax at the following rates for the 2008/9,
2009/10 and 2010/11 financial years. Non‐residents do not pay the
Medicare Levy:
Threshold 1 July 2008 to 30
June 2009

Tax
Rate
%

Threshold 1 July 2009 to 30
June 2010

Tax
Rate
%

$0 ‐ $34,000

29

$0 ‐ $35,000

29

$34,001 ‐ $80,000

30

$35,001 ‐ $80,000

30

$80,001 ‐ $180,000

40

$80,001 ‐ $180,000

38

$180,001 +

45

$180,001 +

45

The residents test
There are many issues determining residency, but generally individuals
are deemed ʹresidentsʹ if they are domiciled in Australia, unless that
person can prove their permanent place of abode is outside Australia and
there is no intention of residing in Australia.
Tax residency can be different to visa residency.
Medicare
Medicare is the scheme which gives Australian residents access to
healthcare. Australian taxpayers generally have to pay a Medicare levy at
the rate of 1.5% of taxable income once this income exceeds a certain
threshold. Individuals classified as non‐Australian residents are exempt
from paying this levy.

BUSINESS TAXES
Income tax is levied on taxable income, which is assessable income less
allowable deductions. Assessable income is gross income and includes
certain capital gains.
Deductions are all losses or outgoings incurred in gaining or producing the
assessable income, or while carrying on a business. Allowable deductions
normally include salary and wages, stock purchases, manufacturing,
trading or administration expenses, interest, rentals and royalties.
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Depreciation is allowed on items such as income producing plant and
equipment, as well as certain forms of intellectual property.
Capital gains or losses generally result from the disposal of assets acquired
after 19 September 1985. The taxable amount is determined by deducting
the cost of the asset, and any incidental costs associated with its purchase
and disposal, from the net proceeds of the disposal. Various concessions
are then usually available to reduce the capital gain that is included in the
taxable income. Generally there is a 50% reduction on most capital gains
and, with certain small businesses, further concessions.
Capital losses can only be deducted from taxable capital gains. They can be
carried forward indefinitely but may only be used to offset particular
capital gains.
Dividends are almost any distribution from a company to shareholders
apart from returned paid‐up capital. Dividends, with an imputation credit
paid out of after‐tax profits, are known as franked dividends and carry a
tax credit. The recipient can offset this credit against the tax payable. No
such offset is available for foreign dividends received.
Companies
For tax purposes all incorporated or unincorporated bodies or associations
except partnerships are held to be companies. They are taxable under an
imputation system, being assessed on their profits and usually taxed at a
flat rate of 30%.
Resident companies
A company is resident in Australia if it is incorporated in Australia or
carries on business in Australia and either:
• maintains its central management control in Australia or
• the voting power in the company is controlled by shareholders
who are resident in Australia.
Resident companies are required to disclose both Australian and non‐
Australian income.
Non‐resident companies
A non‐resident company has to file a tax return disclosing its Australian‐
sourced income. Australian subsidiaries of a foreign parent company may
apply to the tax authorities to change their tax year accounting period to
coincide with the financial year‐end reporting requirements of the parent
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company. This can be modified if the parent country is part of Australiaʹs
network of double tax treaties.
Partnerships
The partnership files a taxation return detailing the amount of taxable
income distributed to each partner and outlining each partnerʹs share of
the income and expenses. The partners then file returns on an individual
basis including the whole of their individual share of the partnershipʹs
income.
Trusts
Depending on the trust structure, tax will either be paid by the trustee or
the beneficiary. A trust will be a resident trust during the year of income if
either a trustee is resident in Australia, or if the central management and
control of the trust is in Australia.
Sole Traders
Sole traders are taxed as individuals and as such are taxed at a progressive
or marginal rate of tax as detailed in Personal Taxes.
Double Tax Treaties
Australia has established Double Taxation Agreements with a number of
other countries in order to avoid double taxation of income and tax
evasion.
These agreements vary slightly with the different countries. Generally,
however, taxing rights over some classes of income only apply to the
country of residence of the person deriving the income. All other income is
able to be taxed in the country in which the income had its source.
Countries with which Australia currently has Double Taxation agreements
are listed in Appendix A.

Anti‐Avoidance Provisions for Foreign Entities
These regulations are extremely complex and apply to investment into and
out of Australia.
Thin capitalisation
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Thin capitalisation rules operate to prevent foreign controlled or multi‐
national corporations allocating a disproportionate amount of debt to their
Australian operations thereby reducing their taxation liabilities. A foreign
controller is defined as a foreign owned company with a 15% or greater
interest in the Australian company.
Transfer pricing
In order to control arrangements by which profits are shifted out of
Australia the Commissioner of Taxation may impose ʹarmʹs length pricesʹ
in accordance with a number of methodologies. Any management charges
or supplies of services by foreign investors to related Australian companies
must be commercially justifiable and at approximately armʹs length prices.

FEDERAL TAXES
GST
One of the key tax reforms recently introduced into Australia is the Goods
and Services Tax (GST). The GST is a broad‐based consumption tax
applied at the rate of 10%, and applies to the majority of goods and
services consumed in Australia. The general exceptions include basic
foods, education, health, charitable activities and some financial
transactions.
GST is essentially a value added tax and is generally applied at each stage
of the production/distribution chain. Businesses may incur GST liability at
either the issue of an invoice or receipt of any payment.
All businesses must register for GST if they have a turnover of $75,000 or
more in sales during the financial year. Businesses registered for the GST
have to return a Business Activity Statement (BAS) at the end of each
quarter reporting their business tax entitlements and obligations.
Such businesses can also claim a GST refund or ʹinput tax creditʹ for the
GST component applying to goods and services paid for in the course of
carrying on their business.
Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT)
Businesses which provide non‐cash benefits to their employees are
generally subject to Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT). This is charged at 46.5% of
the taxable value of the fringe benefit, and is deductible by the employer
for income tax purposes.
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FBT applies to benefits such as private use of a motor vehicle, waiver of a
debt, interest free or low interest loans, free or cheap housing and some
discounted goods or services.
Customs and Excise
Customs duty is payable on certain goods at the time they enter Australia.
The amount of duty payable is generally levied on the customs value of
the goods which may differ from the sale price.
Excise is imposed on the local production of a number of goods including
tobacco products, alcoholic beverages and petroleum.

STATE TAXES
Payroll tax
Each State or Territory individually levies payroll tax on gross monthly
wages, salaries and certain non‐cash benefits paid by employers. As an
example, the payroll tax rates for Western Australia are set out below:

ANNUAL WAGES ($)

TAX RATES (%)

0 – 750,000
Over 750,000

Nil
5.50

Stamp Duty
Stamp Duties are imposed on contracts and legal documents such as
transfers of land, goodwill and the taking of security for financial
accommodation such as mortgages and charges. Again, the rates vary
according to the type of transaction, and between the different States and
Territories.
As an indication of the rates of stamp duty, the following is the Western
Australian rate for the acquisition of the goodwill and plant and
equipment component of a business as at 1 July 2008.

$0 ‐

$80,000

$1.90 per $100 or part thereof
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$80,001 ‐
above $80,000
$100,001 ‐
above $100,000
$250,001 ‐
above $250,000
$500,001 &
thereof above $500,000

$100,000

$1,520 + $2.85 per $100 or part thereof

$250,000

$2,090 + $3.80 per $100 or part thereof

$500,000

$7,790 + $4.75 per $100 or part thereof

upwards

$19,665 + $5.15 per $100 or part

Land Tax
Land Tax is imposed by each State or Territory, is paid annually and is
based upon on the unimproved value of land owned by the taxpayer.
Generally the rate of tax varies according to the value of the property. This
tax may be deductible for income tax purposes if the land is used in the
production of assessable income. There are various exemptions available
to land holders depending upon the use of the land, including an
exemption (in most cases) for an individual’s principal residence.
Other impositions
Annual fees are payable on all vehicle registrations, as are council rates
and taxes which again vary according to State or Territory regulations.

EMPLOYERS OBLIGATIONS
Employers must withhold appropriate amounts of withholding tax
(PAYG) from their employeesʹ earnings and pay this directly to the ATO.
Employers are also obliged to contribute a minimum level of
superannuation for each employee into a recognised superannuation
(pension) fund. In addition, they may be obliged to pay a workers
compensation levy in accordance to the differing regulations of the
individual States and Territories.
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7.

Accounting & reporting

The Corporations Act 2001 regulates accounting and reporting for
companies, registered schemes and disclosing entities in Australia.
Unincorporated bodies, as well as branches, partnerships and certain
trusts are not governed by the Corporations Act, but are still required to
maintain accurate records for tax and other purposes.
An audit must be conducted on all financial reports prepared under the
requirements of the Corporations Act. Other entities are not required to be
audited.
Disclosing entities are those entities, including companies and other
unincorporated bodies, which have raised funds from the public. These
can include both listed and unlisted entities.

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
The main accounting bodies in Australia have developed the Australian
Accounting Standards (AASs). These standards apply to public service
sector entities and other bodies not regulated by the Corporations Act.
The Australian Accounting Standards Board has issued a series of
standards (AASBs) which must be followed by companies and
unincorporated disclosing entities governed by the Corporations Act.
From July 2005, there has been a harmonisation of Australian Accounting
Standards to follow the International Accounting Standards developed by
the International Accounting Standards Board. More information about
specific standards can be found at http://www.aasb.com.au/

COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS
The Corporations Act sets out a number of requirements for public
companies and disclosing entities, including:
• Maintenance and retention of accounting records
• Maintenance of registers and minutes relating to directors and
shareholders and their meetings
• The form and content of annual accounts
• Publication to shareholders and the public filing of annual accounts
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•

Requirements for annual accounts to be audited.

Other business structures, such as sole traders, partnerships and trusts, not
governed by the Corporations Act still have to comply with the following
requirements for tax and other purposes:
• Maintenance of reliable records showing a true and fair view of
their circumstances
• Retention of relevant records and documents for five years to
support tax claims.
Certain structures may be required, by their governing documents, to
produce their financial statements in accordance with the Corporations
Act.

FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Corporations Act requires directors of Australian public companies,
large proprietary companies, disclosing entities and registered schemes to
prepare an annual financial report and a directorʹs report. The financial
reports must provide a true and fair view of the companyʹs financial
position and performance and must comply with the accounting
standards.
Annual financial reports include:
• A directorsʹ report
• An auditorʹs report
• A profit and loss statement for the year
• A balance sheet as at the end of the year
• Cash flow statement for the year
• Comprehensive notes to the financial report and other disclosures
• Directorʹs declaration.
Listed companies must make their annual financial report available to
shareholders if requested. They may choose, however, to present their
shareholders with a concise financial report instead of the full report. This
must include the directorsʹ and auditorʹs report, balance sheet, cash flow
and profit and loss statements. In addition it must include a discussion
and analysis of each statement as well as include information relating to
earnings per share, dividends, details about extraordinary items, segment
information and subsequent events.
Reporting requirements
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The different reporting requirements for the different entities are as
follows:
Public Companies
• To hold an annual general meeting within five months of the end of
the financial year
• To distribute its annual financial report, or concise financial report,
to shareholders at least 21 days prior to the annual general meeting.
Proprietary Companies
• No requirement to hold an annual general meeting
• If an annual financial report is required, this must be distributed
and lodged within five months of the end of the financial year.
Disclosing Entities
• To prepare both half‐year and annual financial reports
• To file information which, if generally available, could materially
affect the price and value of its securities ‐ in accordance with the
Corporations Actʹs continuous disclosing provisions
• All disclosing entities must file this information with ASIC
• Listed entities must also file this information with the ASX.
Audit Requirements
The Corporations Act requires an audited report to be obtained on the
following:
• All disclosing entities
• All public companies
• All registered schemes
• Small proprietary companies under certain circumstances.
The auditor of a public company or disclosing entity is generally
appointed at an annual general meeting of the shareholders, and generally
by the directors for a proprietary company.
Auditors must report to members as to whether, in their opinion, the
financial report is in accordance with the Corporations Act. The auditor
must additionally report cases where proper financial records have not
been maintained and where they were unable to obtain all the necessary
information to properly conduct the audit.
Accounts required to be filed on a half‐yearly basis may be either audited
or reviewed. If reviewed, the auditor must state whether or not the
accounts comply with relevant requirements.
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Filing of Accounts
Companies are obliged to file an Annual Company Statement with ASIC
on the annual review date, which is the anniversary of the company’s
registration date.
This statement must be signed by a director or the company secretary and
include details of the companyʹs share capital, list the shareholders,
provide the directorsʹ and secretaryʹs particulars, as well as any other
pertinent information.
Public companies and audited private companies have to file their
financial statements annually with ASIC. These must be filed within 90
days of the end of the financial year.
Disclosing entities are obliged to file an additional half‐year report, which
must be lodged within 75 days of the end of the half‐year period.
Companies listed on the Australian Stock Exchange must also submit their
financial statements to the ASX within 75 days of the end of the year or
half‐year period.
A foreign company operating in Australia generally has to file its financial
statements annually with ASIC. These statements are those required by the
regulations of the country in which the company was incorporated.
ACCOUNTING PROFESSION
Accountants in public practice or senior accountants in business will
generally belong to either the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
Australia or CPA Australia.
Membership to either the Institute or CPA Australia is obtained if the
applicant is over the age of 21, has completed three years full‐time
employment with a member firm and passed written examinations.
Auditors of companies have to be ʹregistered company auditorsʹ with
either the Institute or the Society or by a body prescribed by ASIC.
Each accounting body has different requirements for qualified accountants
from other countries wishing to practice in Australia.
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8.

Business and executive migration to
Australia

Australia has a strongly controlled migration regime with migration
mainly regulated by the Migration Act 1958 and the Migration Regulations
1994.
At present approximately 150,000 migrants are permitted into Australia
each year. This total includes skilled and business migrants, refugees and
family reunions and each category of migrant has a relevant visa.
Visa requirements
Australia actively encourages skilled and business migrants who make up
the largest proportion of migrants. Skilled migrant visas are normally
based on a points system with most points being awarded for occupation,
education, age and English language ability.
Business migrant visas are granted to applicants with skills gained from
working in their own business or to those who have been executives of
large and non‐government institutions. In recent years the total business
migrant allocation has not been met.
There are a number of business visas, each having particular requirements.
A permanent residence visa, known as a ʹBusiness Talent Visaʹ, can be
granted to migrants who meet particular business skills and qualifications.
These include:
• A set minimum level of ownership in a business prior to migration
• Management at a senior level in the business
• The business must have attained a minimum level of assets and
turnover
• The migrant must be under 55 years and have functional English
• The migrant must be able to bring to Australia at least AUD$1.5
million.
The majority of business visas, however, are provisional. They are granted
to prospective business migrants not able to meet the Business Talent Visa
requirements. Instead the migrant is required to meet a reduced set of
criteria both before arriving and once in Australia. This usually includes
bringing a certain amount of capital into Australia, and starting or
purchasing a business. Once these criteria have been met, the migrant can
then apply for a permanent visa with lower requirement than the Business
Talent Visa.
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Business visa requirements are complicated and the choice of business
structure and how it is applied may have a critical impact on residency,
taxation and commercial issues. In 2006/07, 1076 business visas were
cancelled because the migrants concerned had not fulfilled their particular
visa requirements correctly, unknowingly in many cases.

State and Territory sponsorship
The various States and Territories are also able to sponsor business
migrants who do not meet the normal capital, age or business visa criteria.
Migrants wishing to take advantage of these reduced requirements have to
submit a business proposal to the relevant State or Territory.
Unfortunately, the criteria and requirements vary from state to state with
some state’s requirements more onerous than others.
The areas that will impact most on the business migrant are the business
proposal requirements and more importantly, employment requirements
of the migrant’s new Australian business.
Prospective migrants should be aware of the employment requirements as
they may well determine the migrant’s ability to conduct a successful
business.
UHY Haines Norton, being a National association, is able to determine the
requirements of each state in which it is situated. Prospective business
migrants should investigate the requirements of the state they intend
migrating to.
UHY Haines Norton
UHY Haines Norton is regarded as the leading accountancy body assisting
business migrants. There are partners and staff in each of the five offices
who specialise in this area and who understand the requirements applying
to each type of business visa.
UHY Haines Norton assists business migration clients in finding
businesses, conducting due diligences, as well as arranging introductions
with banks, solicitors, real estate agents, business brokers, and other
relevant institutions.
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UK Pensions
From the 6 April 2006 the UK government introduced far reaching
legislative and regulation changes.
Essentially, a minimum 40% charge will be deducted from a UK pension
unless it is transferred into a QROPS (Qualifying Recognised Overseas
Pension Scheme) approved by the UK Inland Revenue.
In order to encourage people to invest for their retirement, the Australian
Government basically made superannuation and pension funds tax free
when people reach retirement.
Conversely former UK residents who did not transfer their UK pensions to
Australia may be taxed in Australia on lump sum payments and on their
pension.
In most cases it is beneficial for ex‐UK migrants to transfer their pension
funds to Australia.
UHY Haines Norton in Perth, are specialists in transferring pensions to
Australia. Pensions can be transferred to well known fund manager or in
the case of those with larger pensions (generally in excess of £100,000) into
their own self‐managed superannuation funds with QROPS status.
Business Proposals
UHY Haines Norton is also experienced in compiling business proposals
for prospective migrants wishing to apply for the State and Territory
sponsored business visas.
Submitting the application
Prospective migrants can choose to use a migration agent or opt to submit
their visa applications themselves. However, because of the complexities
of the different visas, it is recommended that business and skilled migrant
applicants go through a reputable registered migration agent based either
overseas or in Australia. Visa approvals are often delayed or even refused
due to minor errors made when completing the application form.
Applicants should ensure the migration agent is registered with the
Migration Agents Authority (MARA). This body was appointed to
regulate the migration advice industry.
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UHY Haines Norton would be pleased to recommend reputable registered
migration agents.
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9.

UHY firms in Australia

UHY Haines Norton is a national association of independent chartered
accountant firms with roots dating back to 1915. The national association
was formed in 1984.
It is in the top 20 accounting groups in Australia with approximately 240
partners and staff. We have offices in the six major cities. We provide a full
range of business, tax and accounting services to corporate and personal
clients.
We offer the following services:
•

Assistance to business migrants

•

Business development and strategic planning

•

Corporate finance advice

•

Accounting and accounting software advice

•

Audit and assurance

•

Tax planning and compliance

•

UK pension transfers

•

Retirement and estate planning

•

Due diligences, investigations and evaluations

•

Financial reporting

•

Liquidations.
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Our offices

Perth

16 Lakeside Corporate, 24 Parkland Road, Osborne Park,
WA, 6017
Tel: 61 8 9444 3400
Fax: 61 8 9444 3430
Cont: Richard Swarbreck ‐ rswarbreck@uhyhn.com.au

Adelaide

25 Peel Street, Adelaide, South Australia, SA 5000
Tel: 61 8 8110 0999
Fax: 61 8 8110 0900
Cont: Allen Bolaffi – allen@uhyhn.com.au

Brisbane

1st Floor, 99 Mary Street, Brisbane, Queensland, QLD 4000
Tel: 61 7 3210 5500
Fax: 61 7 3229 6174
Cont: Rowan Wallace – r.wallace@uhyhn.com.au

Canberra

Level 2, 28 University Avenue, Canberra, ACT 2601
Tel: 61 2 6230 5999
Fax: 61 2 6230 5355
Cont: Michael Sinclair – m.sinclair@uhyhn.com.au

Melbourne

Level 8, 607 Bourke Street, Melbourne, Victoria, VIC 3000
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Tel: 61 3 9629 4700
Fax: 61 3 9629 4722
Cont: Harold Lourie ‐ hlourie@melb.uhyhn.com.au
Sydney

Level 11, 1 York Street, Sydney, NSW 2000
Tel: 61 2 9256 6600
Fax: 61 2 9256 6611
Cont: Stephen Guthrie ‐ sguthrie@uhyhn.com.au

For more information on UHY Haines Norton and our people and services
please see our website: www.uhyhn.com.au
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10. UHY offices worldwide
For contact details of UHY offices worldwide, or for details on how to
contact the UHY executive office, please visit www.uhy.com
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APPENDIX A

DOUBLE TAX TREATY COUNTRIES
Australia currently has a comprehensive double tax agreement with the
following countries:
Argentina

Austria

Belgium

Canada

China

Czech Republic

Denmark

Fiji

Finland

France

Germany

Hungary

India

Indonesia

Ireland

Italy

Japan

Kiribati

Malaysia

Malta

Mexico

Netherlands

New Zealand

Norway

Papua New Guinea

Philippines

Poland

Romania

Russia

Singapore

Slovakia

South Africa

South Korea

Spain

Sri Lanka

Sweden

Switzerland

Taipei

Thailand

United Kingdom

United States

Vietnam
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APPENDIX B

SOURCES OF INFORMATION AND HELPFUL WEBSITES
Australia in General
Australian Bureau of Statistics
Australian Embassies, Consulates and Missions
around the world
Australian Stock Exchange
Department of Industry, Tourism & Resources
Main website for Australian Federal, State,
Territory & Local Governments
Reserve Bank of Australia

www.abs.gov.au
www.embassy.gov.au
www.asx.com.au
www.industry.gov.au
www.gov.au
www.rba.gov.au

Business Environment
Attorney‐Generalʹs Department
www.law.gov.au
Austrade ‐ Australian Trade Commission
www.austrade.gov.au
Australian Competition & Consumer Commission www.accc.gov.au
Australian Department of Foreign Affairs & Trade www.dfat.gov.au
Australian Prudential Regulation Authority
www.apra.gov.au
Australian Securities & Investments Commission www.asic.gov.au
Australian Standards
www.standards.com.au
Australian Stock Exchange
www.asx.com.au
Financial Review
www.afr.com
Foreign Investment Review Board
www.firb.gov.au
Invest Australia
www.investaustralia.gov.au

Foreign Investment
Austrade ‐ Australian Trade Commission
www.austrade.gov.au
Export Finance and Insurance Commission
www.efic.gov.au
Foreign Investment Review Board
www.firb.gov.au
Invest Australia
www.investaustralia.gov.au
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Setting up a Business in Australia
AusIndustry
www.ausindustry.gov.au
Austrade ‐ Australian Trade Commission www.austrade.gov.au
Australian Customs Service
www.customs.gov.au
Australian Business Register
www.abr.business.gov.au
Australian Retailers Association
www.ara.com.au
Australian Securities & Investments Commission www.asic.gov.au
Australian Stock Exchange
www.asx.com.au
Australian Taxation Office
www.ato.gov.au
Business Entry Point
www.business.gov.au
Business Licence Information
www.bli.net.au
Federal Government
www.fed.gov.au
IP Australia
www.ipaustralia.gov.au
Small Business Advisory Services:
ACT
www.business,gov.au/
New South Wales
www.smallbiz.nsw.gov.au
Northern Territory
www.tbc.nt.gov.au
South Australia
www.cibm.sa.gov.au
Tasmania
www.tdr.tas.gov.au
Victoria
www.business.vic.gov.au
Western Australia
www.sbdc.com.au
Migration to Australia
Migration Agents Registration Authority
Migration Institute of Australia
Department of Immigration & Citizenship

www.themara.com.au
www.mia.org.au
www.immi.gov.au

Employment
Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry www.acci.asn.au
Australian Council of Trade Unions
www.actu.asn.au
Australian Industrial Relations Commission
www.airc.gov.au
Australia Workplace Agreements
www.awaonline.gov.au
Centrelink
www.centrelink.gov.au
Department of Employment and Workplace Relations
www.dewrsb.gov.au
National Occupational Health and Safety Commission www.nohsc.gov.au
Taxation
Australian Stock Exchange
Australian Taxation Office
Medicare

www.asx.com.au
www.ato.gov.au
www.hic.gov.au

Accounting and Reporting
Australian Accounting Standards Board

www.aasb.com.au

© Copyright 2009 Urbach Hacker Young International Ltd

‐48‐

Australian Securities & Investments Commission www.asic.gov.au
Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants
www.cpaaustralia.com.au
Australian Stock Exchange
www.asx.com.au
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
www.icaa.org.au

Real Estate
Real Estate Institute of Australia (REIA)

www.reiaustralia.com.au

(you can access the following websites via the REIA website)

Real Estate Institute of New South Wales (REINSW) www.reinsw.com.au
Real Estate Institute of Queensland (REIQ)
www.reiq.com.au
Real Estate Institute of South Australia (REISA)
www.reisa.com.au
Real Estate Institute of Western Australia (REIWA) www.reiwa.com.au

With thanks to Phillips Fox, one of Australiaʹs leading legal firms, for legal
and related information included in this publication ‐
www.phillipsfox.com.au
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SMALL BUSINESS PRE‐ACQUISITION QUESTIONNAIRE AND
MEMORY JOGGER
The following is a list of questions we have prepared to help a prospective
business purchaser. The list is not exhaustive and is only intended as a
memory jogger.
√
1. Name and location of business we want to purchase.
2. Are we using the correct business entity to purchase the business?
3. Does the business fit the requirements for the particular visa?
4. Will the vendor be prepared to work in the business for a period after
the sale?
5. Purchase breakdown (plant and equipment, stock, goodwill etc). Will
this optimise tax benefits?
6. Is there a restraint of trade clause and if not, should it be included?
7. Why does vendor want to sell?
8. Do we have any information/history of the vendor?
9. Does the vendor have more than one business? If yes, could it be
contributing to the business to be purchased?
10. For how long has the business been on the market?
11. Are financial statements and tax returns available? If so, for how
many years?
12. Do we have full access to the vendors books of account and records?
13. Employee Structure? Any changes to employees after change of
ownership?
14. Visit the premises, note status of fixtures and fittings, any major
repairs/replacement of buildings/equipment.
15. Review lease agreement and have the lease agreement checked by a
lawyer.
16. Review competition – i.e. new business in area, similar products etc?
17. Contact local shire to ensure there are no restrictions or if any
developments that will effect the business in foreseeable future?
18. If the business is in a shopping centre, speak to Centre Management
to find out if the centre will allow more business of same nature to
open?
19. Will the telephone and fax number of the business be transferred to
us?
20. Are any assets that are to be purchased, encumbered?
21. Are items of plant and equipment under hire purchase or lease?
22. Do the revenue numbers in the financial statements agree with
revenue numbers in the tax return, BAS and deposits in the business
bank account?
23. Are there any major customers that may discontinue after ownership
change?
24. If the business is a franchise, contact the franchisor and other
franchisees.
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25. Are sales numbers on a par with industry standards?
26. Do the expenditure numbers in the financial statements agree with
expense numbers in the tax return and withdrawals from the
business bank account?
27. Does the gross wage number in financials agree to Payment
Summary?
28. Will suppliers continue to provide stock at the same price after
change in ownership?
29. Is the Gross Profit margin on a par with industry standards?
30. Most importantly – get advice from a reputable accountant, who
understands migration issues, before making an offer.
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UHY HAINES NORTON INTERVIEW CHECKLIST
In your initial interview UHY Haines Norton will take the time to get to know you, finding out about your visa
status, financial position, background and your expectations. Issues discussed generally include:

√
Your visa obligations and how they interact with business
Business opportunities
• Introduction to business brokers
• Business reviews (due diligences)
• General advice on business in Australia
Business structuring
• The correct business structure is extremely important for migrants as it
may impact on visa, taxation and commercial requirements.
Taxation issues
• Deciding whether to sell or transfer ownership of assets prior to entry
into Australia
• Understanding the point at which you will be treated as a resident of
Australia for tax purposes and how this will impact on the taxation of
your income and assets
• Ensuring that your international assets receive the most favourable tax
treatment once you are treated as an Australian resident for tax purposes
• Making the most of available tax concessions during your entry into
Australia
• Pensions – transfers and withdrawal
• State Taxes and Stamp Duties on funding business and property
Banking
• Assistance with opening accounts
• Lending limits and requirements for loans
• Other Australian banking issues
• Currency transfers
Accounting and taxation requirements for setting up your business
• Accounting software and training
• Ongoing tax issues - e.g. PAYG, quarterly or monthly business activity
statements
Foreign Investment Review Board (FIRB)
• Restrictions (if any) imposed on migrants wishing to purchase property
in Australia
Insurance and life assurance (if required we refer you to appropriate
professionals)
• Life cover
• General and other assurance matters
• Wills

Interviews generally take around 1½ to 2 hours.
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If a company or trust is formed during or subsequent to this interview, the
interview fee will be offset against the company/trust formation fee.
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